### Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-13-2016

# Forbush v. Sagecrest Multi Family Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44053

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

On November 10, 2012, at the Sagecrest apartment complex ("Sagecrest") in Meridian, Idaho, a gas-burning water heater emitted lethal levels of carbon monoxide ("CO"), poisoning teenagers McQuen Forbush and Breanna Halowell as they slept. No hard-wired CO detector was there to warn or protect them from the danger. Mr. Forbush was killed; Ms. Halowell survived but with a permanent brain injury.

Defendants/Respondents — The Sagecrest Multi Family Property Owners' Association, Inc. (the "POA") and POA President Jon Kalsbeek — knew for well over a year before this incident that the water heaters at Sagecrest posed a deadly threat (the air intakes were clogging, causing the water heaters to burn improperly and emit CO), and that professional preventative maintenance and hard-wired (as opposed to battery-powered) CO detectors were necessary solutions. The property manager at Sagecrest, First Rate Property Management, Inc. ("FRPM") wanted to take specific steps that would have saved Mr. Forbush and Ms. Halowell. But the POA (through Mr. Kalsbeek) — which had the power to hire, fire, and set FRPM's compensation for managing unit interiors, and routinely micromanaged FRPM's activities in unit interiors — prevented FRPM from taking its proposed actions. As a result, Mr. Forbush and Ms. Halowell were poisoned.

Plaintiffs/Appellants — Mr. Forbush's parents and Ms. Halowell — brought this action against Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA. The district court granted summary judgment, holding that neither Mr. Kalsbeek nor the POA owed any duties. Although normally a question of law, the

existence of a duty becomes a question of fact when it depends on disputed facts. The disputed facts here preclude summary judgment.

<u>First</u>, Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA owed **premises liability** duties. An entity with control over a premises owes duties proportionate to that control. Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA exercised control over whether: (a) hard-wired CO detectors would be timely installed; (b) a professional plumber would be hired to perform preventative maintenance; and (c) tenants and guests would receive adequate warnings of the deadly CO threat.

Second, Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA owed duties resulting from their voluntary undertakings to decide whether: (a) hard-wired CO detectors would be timely installed; (b) a professional plumber would be hired to perform preventative maintenance; and (c) tenants and guests would receive adequate warnings of the deadly CO threat. An additional element — reliance — is also necessary. FRPM relied on Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA's decisions.

Third, the POA is **vicariously liable** for FRPM's acts and omissions. The POA exerted control over whether: (a) hard-wired CO detectors would be timely installed; (b) a professional plumber would be hired to perform preventative maintenance; and (c) tenants and guests would receive adequate warnings of the deadly CO threat. FRPM was the POA's agent with respect to both unit exteriors and unit interiors at Sagecrest.

### B. Course of the Proceedings

The district court initially denied summary judgment for the POA. R. p. 642. It then *sua sponte* gave notice of its intent to reconsider, R. p. 799, and subsequently granted summary

judgment, R. pp. 952-94, reasoning that the POA owed no duties, R. p. 977. The district court found that the POA lacked control over unit interiors, R. pp. 977-86, and did not voluntarily assume any duties, R. pp. 986-94. It applied the same reasoning and granted summary judgment to Mr. Kalsbeek. Tr. p. 106, L. 18 to p. 112, L. 7; R. p. 949. Final judgment was entered, R. p. 996, and Plaintiffs timely appealed, R. pp. 1000-07.

### C. Statement of the Facts

#### 1. Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA exercised actual control over unit interiors.

Although Sagecrest unit owners exercised control over unit interiors, Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA also exercised parallel control over unit interiors. FRPM Owner Tony Drost testified that the POA, through Mr. Kalsbeek, controlled "global issues" at Sagecrest. R. p. 391 at Dep. p. 93, L. 14 to p. 95, L. 19. This control extended to unit interiors:

A. . . . . Global issues consisted of the CO testing. Global issues consisted of the water heaters. Global issues consisted of leaks with windows, stairwells, light bulbs.

\* \* \* \*

Jon [Kalsbeek] was in control, and we did what he told us to do.

- O. Who's responsible for the global issues?
- A. The POA through Jon.

R. p. 391 at Dep. p. 95, Ll. 9-19. Even replacing dishwashers — if it had to be done in multiple units — was a "global issue" for which FRPM needed Mr. Kalsbeek's "permission to go forward." R. p. 392 at Dep. p. 239, L. 20 to p. 240, L. 21; *see also* R. p. 394 at Dep. p. 318, L.

Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the other POA Board members. R. p. 646 at n.1.

13 to p. 320, L. 11; R. p. 397-98 (Mr. Kalsbeek "insisted that [Mr. Drost] run any global issue through [Mr. Kalsbeek]").

FRPM maintenance supervisor Sheila Thomason testified: "He [Mr. Kalsbeek] micromanaged things that I did on a daily basis . . . . I'd have to include him on the e-mails or report to him on daily things that happened." R. p. 403 at Dep. p. 66, Ll. 11-17; *see also* R. p. 410 at Dep. p. 259, Ll. 19-22 (Kalsbeek "micromanaged *everything* that we [FRPM] did" (emphasis added)). Mr. Kalsbeek made it clear that he was "in charge" of all "decisions that were made at Sagecrest." R. p. 409 at Dep. p. 219, L. 18 to p. 220, L. 12. For example, Mr. Kalsbeek required the on-site FRPM employees to keep a daily logbook of activities at Sagecrest, and complained when he found it insufficiently detailed. R. pp. 458, 486 (logbook included unit interior issues such as filter changes and CO testing).<sup>2</sup>

## 2. Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA's ability to micromanage FRPM is explained in part by the POA's power to hire, fire, and set FRPM's compensation for managing unit interiors.

Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA had financial leverage over FRPM. Sagecrest was FRPM's largest account — not merely at the time of this tragedy, but ever. R. pp. 929-30 at Dep. p. 69, L. 22 to p. 70, L. 25. Sagecrest constituted over twenty percent of the total units that FRPM managed. R. p. 141 at ¶ 14. FRPM was strongly motivated to keep the Sagecrest account.

The POA exercised control over unit interiors even prior to FRPM's management. The POA — not individual owners — paid FRPM's predecessor, H & H Property Management, Inc., to replace HVAC filters inside all Sagecrest apartments. R. p. 380 at Dep. p. 359, Ll. 8-22.

To keep its largest account, FRPM had to stay in the POA's good graces. Pursuant to Section 6.6A of the Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions of the Multi Family Portion of the Sagecrest Subdivision (Sagecrest's "CCR's"), all owners were required to use a property manager of the POA's choosing to manage unit interiors. R. p. 96.<sup>3</sup> Thus, the POA — *not* the owner, Mr. Switzer — decided whether FRPM would manage Unit 4624's interior.<sup>4</sup> The POA, through Mr. Kalsbeek, actively enforced § 6.6A. R. p. 388. The POA hired FRPM as its property manager on March 15, 2010. R. p. 98; R. p. 141 at ¶ 18. Thus, on the same day, FRPM became Mr. Switzer's property manager pursuant to § 6.6A. R. p. 104.

FRPM had two sources of compensation at Sagecrest: (1) a \$150/month management fee paid by the POA, and (2) 5% of monthly gross rental receipts. R. p. 100 at ¶ 6.1; R. p. 111. The POA — not owners — set rental rates, and thus controlled monthly gross receipts. R. p. 106 at ¶ 5.3. Thus, the POA controlled FRPM's compensation for *all* management at Sagecrest, including management of unit interiors.

The POA paid FRPM's on-site employees' hourly wages. R. p. 100 at § 5.1. The POA, through Mr. Kalsbeek, had authority to grant or deny these employees' requests to work overtime — including on issues related to unit interiors. *See* R. p. 710. For example, Mr.

Section 6.6A included a "grandfather clause" allowing owners who managed their own units as of November 18, 2004 to continue doing so. R. p. 64 (handwritten notation: "Re-Record to add Section 6.6A per Sagecrest Property Owner's Association."); R. p. 96. Only four of the forty-eight buildings were grandfathered. *See* R. p. 141 at ¶ 18. Apartment 4624 was *not*. *See* R. p. 104.

The POA Board had autonomous power to select the property manager. *See* R. p. 841 (Board vote replacing FRPM with Verity Property Management).

Kalsbeek directed FRPM leasing manager Tara Gaertner to compile a spreadsheet of units with hard-wired CO detectors. R. p. 708. Ms. Gaertner requested permission to work overtime to do so as quickly as possible. R. p. 709. Mr. Kalsbeek denied her request. R. p. 710.

Sagecrest was the biggest account FRPM ever had. To keep it, FRPM had to stay in the POA Board's good graces. Mr. Kalsbeek used that leverage over FRPM to micromanage FRPM's activities — including with respect to unit interiors.

### 3. The CCR's specifically grant the POA power to repair, maintain, and restore unit interiors, including through its agent, FRPM.

A defendant owes duties resulting from control over a premises or agent, regardless of whether that control was contractually authorized. *See infra* Parts III.A.1 and III.C.3. But, even if only authorized control could result in liability, the POA's control here was authorized.

The CCR's set forth the POA and owners' respective rights and responsibilities. The POA is responsible for maintaining unit exteriors and common areas. R. p. 68 at § 3.3(A). Owners are responsible for maintaining unit interiors, as well as exterior windows, doors, and air conditioning units. R. p. 69 at § 3.3(B). But, § 3.8 gives the POA Board the power to override this division:

In the event the Owner of any Residential Lot improved with a Four Plex shall fail to maintain <u>any</u> portion of such Owner's Residential Lot that Owner is responsible to maintain, in a manner reasonable [sic] satisfactory to the Board, after approval by vote of at least sixty percent (60%) of the members of the Board present and voting and subject to such Owner's right to notice and a hearing before the Board, the Association may, <u>through its agents</u> and employees, enter upon the Residential Lot or Four Plex and repair, maintain and restore the Residential Lot, or the Four Plex.

R. p. 70 (emphasis added). Section 3.8 establishes that the POA had the contractual authority to repair, maintain, and restore unit interiors, including through its agent FRPM. Four things are noteworthy about § 3.8:

First, the substantive standard is "reasonabl[y] satisfactory to the Board"; the POA Board has absolute discretion to act pursuant to § 3.8.

Second, although the Board is *supposed* to follow procedures — a Board vote, notice, and a hearing before the Board — an owner has no recourse if the Board fails to do so.

Third, contrary to the district court's ruling below, § 3.8 applies to "<u>any</u> portion of such Owner's Residential Lot that Owner is responsible to maintain." (emphasis added) Section 3.8 does <u>not</u> limit the POA's power to unit exteriors (versus interiors).

Fourth, § 3.8 authorizes the POA to act "through its agents" — i.e. FRPM. *See also* R. p. 75 at § 6.7(A)(3) (POA may delegate powers to management company).

### 4. Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA were long aware of the deadly CO threat.

On July 19, 2011 — well over a year prior to the deadly poisoning — FRPM leasing manager Tara Gaertner called Mr. Kalsbeek and informed him that tenants in an apartment were exposed to such high levels of CO that, had they remained there for only another forty-five minutes, they would have died. R. pp. 670-71 (email re: phone call). In subsequent emails, Mr. Kalsbeek acknowledged the serious CO threat and its cause (water heaters clogging). R. pp. 673-676.

On July 28, 2011, FRPM maintenance supervisor Sheila Thomason forwarded to Mr. Kalsbeek a letter from Ben Davis of Express Plumbing, who had inspected the Sagecrest units (hereinafter the "Ben Davis Letter"). R. p. 698 ("I have also attached a word doc I received from Ben . . . ."); R. pp. 701-02 (letter). Mr. Davis sternly warned: "*I would strongly recommend that these [CO] issues be solved before any tenants suffer health problems or death.*" R. pp. 701-02 (emphasis added). Ms. Thomason's email extensively discussed the CO threat. R. pp. 696-99.

Mr. Kalsbeek acknowledged that by August of 2011 he was aware of "a serious potential health problem with carbon monoxide issues" at Sagecrest. R. p. 687 at Dep. p. 219, Ll. 10-15. He was also aware of the necessity of installing hard-wired CO detectors "in each unit" to prevent a tragedy. R. p. 383; *see also* R. p. 386 (email acknowledging need).

On October 10, 2012 — a month before this fatal poisoning — the Meridian Fire Department responded to a CO emergency involving Sagecrest tenant Molly Collins. R. p. 293. The next day, FRPM leasing manager Tara Gaertner informed Mr. Kalsbeek about the incident and repeated what he already knew: that battery-operated CO detectors were unreliable, and that only hard-wired CO detectors could avert a poisoning. R. p. 704.

#### 5. Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA controlled hard-wired CO detector installation.

Mr. Kalsbeek, acting as POA President, established CO testing and detector-installation procedures for Sagecrest. FRPM general manager Lizz Loop was adamant that the Procedures were "Jon's way" — i.e. "the way Jon [Kalsbeek] wanted to have the testing and the maintenance done." R. p. 402 at Dep. p. 52, L. 24 to p. 53, L. 11. Ms. Gaertner explained that

Mr. Kalsbeek "came into town when we had that meeting and said, 'This [sic] is what the procedures are going to be.' He laid them out for us." R. p. 437 at Dep. p. 301, L. 18 to p. 302, L. 11. Even Mr. Kalsbeek acknowledged that the Procedures were his. R. p. 458 (he drove 1.600 miles to "correct" the Procedures).

Under Mr. Kalsbeek's Procedures, installation of hard-wired combination smoke/CO detectors was not scheduled to take place over any specific timeframe; rather, hard-wired CO detectors would be installed on a piecemeal basis during events such as a tenant turnover or an existing smoke detector's failure. R. p. 429 (March 20, 2012 Procedures); R. p. 829 (October 25, 2012 Procedures). Mr. Kalsbeek explained that under his Procedures owner approval was not required for hard-wired CO detector installation. R. p. 415 at Transcript p. 14, Ll. 2-18 ("There is absolutely nothing about owners' approval."); R. p. 418 at Transcript p. 98, L. 25 to p. 99, L. 1 ("[T]he smoke detector combo [i.e. combination smoke/CO detector] was not optional.").

Following the Molly Collins poisoning incident, the Meridian Fire Department warned FRPM that battery-powered CO detectors were inadequate. R. p. 704. The next day, FRPM leasing manager Tara Gaertner emailed Mr. Kalsbeek, pleading:

After yesterdays [sic] events I would like to have Chris [a handyman contractor] go into every unit and check and make sure the CO detectors that we installed are in working condition. The units that do not have CO detectors I would like him to install one. . . . I would really like to do this to take the heat off us. I talked to Chris, he would charge \$25 per building to make sure they are all good. If there is a unit that needs a CO detector it would be \$55 for the detector and \$25 for installing it. Please let me know your thoughts.

*Id.* Mr. Kalsbeek did <u>not</u> respond that the POA lacked the power to rule on this request. Rather, he stated: "I will talk to the board and see how the board wants to proceed." R. p. 461 (emphasis added); *see also* R. pp. 148-49 at ¶ 69.

On October 15, 2012, Ms. Gaertner again stressed, "I don't think it should be optional to have Chris [the handyman contractor] go in and make sure every unit has a working CO detector." R. p. 705. Mr. Kalsbeek then requested a spreadsheet of which units had hard-wired CO detectors, R. p. 708, which Ms. Gaertner provided, R. p. 710 (covering email); R. pp. 713-16 (spreadsheet). During this extensive back-and-forth Mr. Kalsbeek never claimed that the POA lacked control over when hard-wired CO detectors would be installed.<sup>5</sup>

Mr. Kalsbeek then met with FRPM owner Tony Drost, FRPM general manager Lizz Loop, and FRPM leasing manager Gaertner on October 25, 2012. R. p. 149 at ¶ 70-71. He was aware that only sixty-four out of one-hundred-and-ninety-two units had hard-wired CO detectors. R. p. 415 at Transcript p. 13, L. 12 to p. 14, L. 2. Nonetheless, Mr. Kalsbeek stated that there was no need to deviate from his Procedures. R. p. 149 at ¶ 73; R. p. 416 at Transcript p. 17, Ll. 15-16. Ms. Loop explained that Mr. Kalsbeek's Procedures prevented the immediate installation of hard-wired CO detectors following the Molly Collins incident. R. p. 303-04 at Dep. p. 221, L. 9 to p. 222, L. 5. And so, by November 10, 2012, there was still no hard-wired CO detector in

On March 14, 2012 Ms. Gaertner drafted an email that clearly evidenced her desire to immediately install hard-wired CO detectors in all units. R. p. 442 ("I recommend putting CO combo detectors in every unit and be done with it."). Although Ms. Gaertner did not send this particular email to Mr. Kalsbeek, it is further evidence that FRPM would have carried through with this plan, but for Mr. Kalsbeek's Procedures to the contrary and insistence that his Procedures be followed.

Apartment 4624. See R. p. 715.<sup>6</sup> Mr. Kalsbeek's piecemeal installation Procedures directly contributed to Mr. Forbush's death and Ms. Halowell's brain injury.<sup>7</sup>

### 6. Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA controlled whether a professional plumber would be hired to perform preventative maintenance.

On April 15, 2011, FRPM maintenance supervisor Sheila Thomason emailed Mr. Kalsbeek, explaining that only a professional plumber would have sufficient training to perform effective preventative maintenance on the Sagecrest water heaters. R. p. 424. Mr. Kalsbeek objected to this life-saving precaution as too expensive. *Id*.

On April 18, 2011, Ms. Gaertner forwarded Mr. Kalsbeek the cost of professional maintenance. R. p. 427. Ms. Gaertner specifically asked Mr. Kalsbeek to decide whether to hire a professional: "Please let me know the next step. Do I schedule to have this done periodically, or as the problem arises?" *Id.* Mr. Kalsbeek did <u>not</u> respond that the POA lacked authority to make this decision. Instead, he replied: "Let us review this and get back to you next week." *Id.* But Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA never got back to her. As a result, the air intake on the unmaintained water heater in Apartment 4624 clogged, the water heater produced a deadly level of CO, and Mr. Forbush was killed and Ms. Halowell was severely injured.

FRPM provided a CO detector to Ms. Kipper (it was battery-powered), but it did not work. See R. p. 966.

Hard-wired detectors could have been installed in a single day to prevent the disaster: on November 12, 2012 — two days too late — hard-wired CO detectors were installed in all remaining units. R. p. 376 at Dep. p. 278, Ll. 5-15; R. p. 376 at Dep. p. 278, Ll. 16-18.

### 7. Mr. Kalsbeek and the POA controlled whether owners and tenants would receive adequate warnings of the deadly CO threat.

On March 9, 2012, Mr. Kalsbeek instructed Ms. Gaertner not to send information regarding the deadly CO threat to owners or tenants. R. p. 448. A reasonable juror could conclude that, through this email, Mr. Kalsbeek<sup>8</sup> was asserting his right to control the flow of information about the CO threat to owners and tenants. Ms. Gartner confirmed this. R. p. 435 at Dep. p. 241, L. 23 to p. 242, L. 11.

Similarly, FRPM maintenance supervisor Sheila Thomason wanted to provide the Ben Davis Letter to all owners. Mr. Kalsbeek forbade her from doing so:

THE WITNESS: I wanted to send the information [the Ben Davis letter] to every single owner at Sagecrest.

Q. (BY MR. PALMER) Did you tell Jon that, Jon Kalsbeek?

A. Yes, I did.

\* \* \* \*

- Q. What was Jon's response when you said that you wanted to send [the letter] to every single owner?
- A. He said, "Absolutely not."
- Q. Did he say why? Did you ask him why?
- A. He wanted to be the one in charge of distributing this type of information to the individual individual owners at Sagecrest.

R. p. 406 at Dep. p. 140, L. 1 to p. 141, L. 11 (emphasis added). The only thing preventing Ms. Thomason from distributing the Ben Davis Letter was Mr. Kalsbeek's command not to:

- Q. Was there anything that prevented you from sending it [the Ben Davis Letter] to the entire ownership?
- A. Jon [Kalsbeek] asked me not to.
- Q. Other than that, was there anything else that prevented you from sending it to the entire ownership?
- A. No.

Furthermore, use of "we" indicates that Mr. Kalsbeek was speaking for the POA.

R. p. 408 at Dep. p. 195, Ll. 8-14; see also R. p. 407 at Dep. p. 193, L. 15 to p. 194, L. 17 ("[Mr. Kalsbeek] wanted to review anything that I [Ms. Thomason] sent out to the owners . . . .").

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