UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-23-2016

Forbush v. Sagecrest Multi Family Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44053

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

In September of 2011, SMPOA hired Engineering Consultants, Inc. ("ECI") to investigate and evaluate the concerns. (*R., p. 531,* ¶ *3; p. 742-743*). ECI reported its findings and recommendations to FRPM site manager, Tara Gaertner. (*Id., p. 742*). Ms. Gaertner then sent the recommended repairs from the report to all of the owners of the residential lots with instructions to let her know if they wanted to make any of the repairs to their units. (*R., p. 489-90*).

Mr. Switzer immediately replied to the email and asked Ms. Gaertner for recommendations regarding his units. (R., p. 488). Ms. Gaertner responded to Mr.

Switzer, informing him that all of his water heaters checked in good during the "CO detecting," indicating that he did not need to worry about the potential carbon monoxide issue in his units. (R., p. 488). FRPM hired and directed all of the contractors that performed maintenance. The SMPOA Board did not hire or direct any contractor to perform maintenance on any unit at the complex.

Plaintiffs set forth additional issues where they claim SMPOA controlled the interiors of the units, relying on FRPM employee statements that Mr. Kalsbeek directed them in regard to interior aspects at the complex. (*Apps.' Brief, pp. 8-13*). The true nature of the relationship, however, is revealed in the email chain previously set forth involving Tony Drost and Jon Kalsbeek in August of 2011 wherein Mr. Drost acknowledged that the water heaters are the owners' responsibility (*R., p. 786*) (*emphasis added*).

Additionally, Plaintiffs claim that Mr. Kalsbeek instructed Ms. Gaertner not to send information regarding the deadly CO threat to owners or tenants." (*Apps.' Brief., p. 12*). This allegation is irrelevant and completely misconstrues the events. As stated previously, on March 9, 2012, Ms. Gaertner informed Mr. Kalsbeek that the water heater in his unit #3724 tested high for levels of carbon monoxide. (*R., p. 447, p.531*). While discussing the issue, Ms. Gaertner informed Mr. Kalsbeek what she believed to be the dangerous level of carbon monoxide in a flue of the water heater vent. Mr. Kalsbeek believed that she misunderstood the exposure levels of carbon monoxide in a flue versus carbon monoxide levels from a reading of the carbon monoxide level <u>in a room</u>. He asked her not to send this information to other owners because it was inaccurate. (*R., p. 448*). She refused. (*R. p. 447*). She then redirected the conversation to Mr. Kalsbeek's

own water heater and its issues. (Id.)

B. SMPOA did not owe Premises Liability Duties to Third-Party Guests of a Tenant.

Plaintiffs claim that there is a question of fact regarding whether SMPOA controlled certain aspects of the interiors of the units located on the residential lots at the Sagecrest complex which created a premises liability duty. (*Apps.' Brief, p. 14-17*). Plaintiffs allege that Kalsbeek/SMPOA owed premises liability duties to the tenants and guests because Kalsbeek: (1) controlled installation of carbon monoxide detectors in the units; (2) controlled maintenance in the units; and, (3) controlled warnings to owners and tenants. Appellants make these premises liability allegations now, despite previously conceding that the <u>SMPOA did not owe a premises liability-based duty to Plaintiffs to replace the water heater in unit 4624</u> because it lacks the power or authority to actually purchase or replace a water heater without an owner's consent. (*R. p. 802 FN. 1, 810; P's Supp brief Re: POA Motion for Summary Judgment*).

SMPOA cannot have a partial premises liability duty for certain maintenance issues on a property. The general rule of premises liability is that one having control of the premises may be liable for failure to keep the premises in repair. *Heath v. Honker's Mini-Mart, Inc.*, 134 Idaho 711, 713, 8 P.3d 1254, 1256 (2000). If a party lacks control over a premises, that party is not liable for injuries sustained thereon. *See Johnson v. K-Mart Corp.*, 126 Idaho 316, 317, 882 P.2d 971, 972 (A tenant generally will not be held legally responsible for conditions existing outside the area over which it has possession or control.).

i. Plaintiffs have not set forth a proper premises liability claim against Defendants.

The issue of premises liability was not addressed by the District Court in its Order Re: Motions for Reconsideration of Sagecrest POA and Switzer Summary Judgment Decisions, likely due to Plaintiffs' concession that the SMPOA does not have a premises liability duty in regard to the water heater, and this issue is not properly before this Court. (R., pp. 952-994). This Court will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. Enriquez v. Idaho Power Co., 152 Idaho 562, 566 (2012). See also Combs v. Kelly Logging, 115 Idaho 695, 698 (1989) (It is well established that arguments raised for the first time on appeal will not be heard); Montalbano v. Saint Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr., 151 Idaho 837, 843, 264 P.3d 944, 950 (2011) (It is well established that in order for an issue to be raised on appeal, the record must reveal an adverse ruling which forms the basis for an assignment of error.) In the event the Court allows this claim to be heard, SMPOA maintains that it did not have a premises liability duty to Plaintiffs.

Appellant's allegations that the SMPOA controlled (a) hard wire CO detector installation; (b) professional preventative maintenance; and (c) warning to owners and tenants are not proper premises liability claims because none of them are "dangerous conditions or activities on the property." The dangerous condition on the property was the water heater that eventually emitted a dangerous amount of carbon monoxide into the unit.

ii. Neither SMPOA's creating documents nor its contract with FRPM grant or allow any authority over the interiors of the units on the residential lots.

In a premises liability analysis, control of the property is a necessary prerequisite. *Heath*, 134 Idaho at 713. Plaintiffs' only argument on this issue is that ¶3.8 of the CCRs gave the SMPOA absolute discretion to deem an owner's maintenance of his or her property unsatisfactory and enter the property to repair, maintain, or restore it. (*Apps.*' *Brief, p, 16*). However, Plaintiffs previously conceded that SMPOA did not have a premises liability duty to replace the water heater in unit #4624 because it lacks the power or authority to actually purchase or replace a water heater without an owner's consent. (*R. p. 802 FN. 1, 810; P's Supp brief Re: POA Motion for Summary Judgment*).

Under a premises liability theory, SMPOA can only have a duty to Plaintiffs if they own³ or occupy the property. SMPOA neither owned nor occupied the residential lots at the complex. Property owners associations are created to manage the common areas for the owners of the units on a complex. The owners, or an agent on their behalf, manage the units and the tenants occupy the units.

In *McDevitt v. Sportsman's Warehouse, Inc.*, 151 Idaho 280 (2011) a lawsuit was brought by a pedestrian of a multi-tenant shopping mall against one of the tenants of the shopping mall after tripping and falling on a recessed irrigation box on sidewalk in front of tenant's retail store. Apparently the tenant had occasionally used the common area for a hot dog stand and displays. At issue was whether the tenant had a duty to make safe common areas which were not a part of its leased premises. 151 Idaho at 285.

In that case, this Court looked to the CCRs and lease of the tenant and landlord to find that the tenant could not, as a matter of law, control the premises because the governing documents did not give the tenant any authority to control the common area where the plaintiff was injured. 151 Idaho at 286.

³ An agent for the owner, such as FRPM, could also potentially be liable to the Appellants.

Similarly, in our circumstance, the "common areas" are the only areas SMPOA is able to control at the complex. (*R. pp. 66, 68,* ¶3.3.*A*). SMPOA has a duty to maintain the common areas, and also certain parts of the exterior of the four plexes, for which it has an easement to access the exterior of each four plex. (*R. p. 69,* ¶3.6). The SMPOA has no authority over the <u>interiors</u> of the four plexes which are exclusively controlled by the owner of the four-plex. (*R. pp. 67, 69,* ¶3.3.*B*, ¶3.5).

¶3.8 of the CCRs is a provision intended to protect the value of the properties in

the event an owner allows his property to fall into disrepair. ¶ 3.8 states:

In the event the Owner of any Residential Lot improved with a Four Plex shall fail to maintain any portion of such Owner's Residential Lot that *Owner is responsible to maintain*, in a manner reasonable satisfactory to the Board, after approval by vote of at least sixty percent (60%) of the members of the Board present and voting and subject to such Owner's right to notice and a hearing before the Board, the Association may, through its agents and employees, enter upon the Residential Lot or Four Plex and repair, maintain and restore the Residential Lot, or the Four Plex. The cost of such repair, maintenance and restoration shall be chargeable to the Owner of such Residential Lot or Four Plex and shall constitute a lien on the Residential Lot of such Owner, collectible in the same manner as Limited Assessments under this Declaration.

(R., p. 70) (emphasis original).

FRPM's General Manager, Liz Loop, agreed that the only circumstance SMPOA could take any action regarding a residential lot under this provision was if an owner had failed to maintain his or her unit, and only after taking the steps outlined in the provision. (*R., p. 116, Loop Depo., p. 77, ll. 1-17*). This provision does not override an owner's exclusive rights, set forth in \P 3.5 of the CCRs, in regard to the units on his residential lot. Regardless, this provision has never been utilized by the SMPOA Board. (*See R., p. 69*,

¶3.5). The undisputed evidence proves that FRPM and Switzer were actively maintaining his residential lot. (*R.*, *pp.* 488-90).

SMPOA's agreement with FRPM was consistent and limited FRPM's corresponding duties to perform day-to-day administrative duties on behalf of the SMPOA for the common areas. (*R. p. 98-102; p. 141*).

iii. FRPM controlled the interiors of the units on behalf of the owners and had a duty to warn the tenants of any dangerous condition or activity.

SMPOA had no control of Switzer's residential lots and did not have a duty to its tenants for interior issues. Premises liability duties to guests of a tenant are narrow and a landowner is only required to share with the licensee knowledge of dangerous conditions or activities on the land. *See Stiles*, 2016 WL 3679909 at *2.

In *Stiles*, a tenant's guest filed a complaint against the landlord after he fell in the backyard and lacerated his arm on a shard of glass protruding from a bay window that was leaning on fence in backyard. This Court stated that a premises liability duty to a guest of the tenant is held by an "owner" or "possessor" of the property. 2016 WL 3679909 at *2. Tenants are held responsible as if they were the owner with respect to third parties....and a landlord generally is not responsible for injuries to third persons in privity with the tenant which are caused by failure to keep or put the demised premises in good repair. *Id. (citing Robinson v. Mueller*, 156 Idaho 237, 241, 322 P.3d 319, 323 (Ct.App.2014). This Court noted that the only exception to this rule is when the landlord created the hazard him or herself when he voluntarily undertakes repairs. *Id.* at *4.

In this case, SMPOA were neither making the repairs nor occupying the property. All of the maintenance work on the interiors of the units was contracted by FRPM and approved and paid for by the owners of the units. The owner of #4624, Switzer, testified

that maintenance was taken care of by FRPM and approved by himself:

Q. What was your expectation with First Rate as to what they would contact you about in terms of maintenance?

A. They would – they were my agent. They would contact me regarding any kind of maintenance, upkeep, service, preventative maintenance, problems, wear and tear, carpet, whatever the issue may be. They would be the one – they would contact me and ask me how I wanted to handle it, whether – and would advise me if it was something that could be repaired or replaced.

(R., p. 203). Further, FRPM site manager, Tara Gaertner, understood that maintenance and the installation of carbon monoxide detectors in the units was a FRPM responsibility. On October 25, 2012, Ms. Gaertner, Mr. Drost, Liz Loop, and Mr. Kalsbeek had a discussion regarding the installation of detectors after the Meridian City Fire Department was called to the complex for carbon monoxide being present in a unit. Ms. Gaertner stated that she wanted carbon monoxide detectors installed in all of the units:

Ms. [Gaertner]: I mean, I understand that it's the owners' decision 'cause it's the owners' money we're spending. But...I'm the manager and it's my responsibility...

 $(R_{\cdot}, p. 414)$ (emphasis added).

Not only did FRPM have a duty to perform general maintenance, but they were obligated to have "preventative maintenance" performed on #4624 bi-annually at the expense of the owner:

Agent shall contract for bi-annual Preventative Maintenance at the expense of the Owner. This contractor will check all plumbing and plumbing fixtures, caulking, door stops, dryer vents, smoke detectors, and furnace filters and make necessary repairs. (*R.*, *p.* 180). In a discussion with Mr. Kalsbeek regarding such preventative maintenance and carbon monoxide installation, Ms. Gaertner attempted to explain that such maintenance had not been done because some owners did not approved the expense. (*R.*, *p.* 414). Mr. Kalsbeek owned units at the complex and was familiar with the contracts between FRPM and the individual owners which allow FRPM to perform maintenance on the unit up to \$250.00 a month without owner's authorization. (*R.*, *p.* 108; *FRPM-Switzer Agreement*, ¶9.5). Mr. Kalsbeek asked her why she thought owners would have to approve such a minimal expense, to which Ms. Gaertner did not have a response. (*R.*, *pp.* 414-415). Despite her protestations, Ms. Gaertner admitted that she was familiar with this provision in FRPM's agreement with the owners. (*R. p.* 788, Gaertner Depo, p. 309, *ll.* 12-17).

Further, Mr. Kalsbeek asked her why there had been carbon monoxide detectors installed in only 64 of the 194 units over the course of eight months, to which Ms. Gaertner replied that they had failed to perform preventative maintenance and carbon monoxide detector installation because they were too busy. (*R., p. 414-15*) ("Cause we've been swamped.")

FRPM was the entity that had the duty to share information with the owner, the tenant, and any guests, via the tenant. The tenant in #4624, Adra Kipper, communicated only with FRPM at the complex regarding maintenance issues in her apartment. (*R. pp. 892-893; Kipper Depo*). FRPM drafted and delivered notice to Ms. Kipper that her water heater had a potential issue and that they were dealing with it. (*R. p. 239, p. 242, pp. 939-940; see also R., p. 146; Affidavit of Tony Drost*). At the same time, FRPM provided Ms.

Kipper with a carbon monoxide detector. (Id., p. 242).⁴

In contrast, Ms. Kipper was not aware there was a property owners' association at the complex. She had never spoken to Mr. Kalsbeek or any other member of SMPOA Board. (R., p. 897). SMPOA did not have, nor assume, a duty to warn tenants regarding any issues at the complex. SMPOA served as a sounding board for the property manager when issues arose at the complex that concerned multiple owners. (R., p. 336, Kalsbeek Depo, pp. 43, ll. 2-20; R., p. 323-24). Plaintiffs are asking the Court to disregard established premises liability law and create an exception that allows the creation of a duty for non-owners or occupiers through allegations of voluntary undertakings.

In the event the Court were to impose such an exception it would have a chilling effect on all property owners' associations attempting to help their property management company identify solutions to problems at its own complex.

C. Neither Mr. Kalsbeek, nor SMPOA assumed a duty to third-party guests of a tenant.

i. This claim is not properly in front of the Court.

This claim is not properly before to this Court because Plaintiffs are raising a new issue. Plaintiffs have changed their argument regarding their allegations of SMPOA's assumed duties in this case. This Court will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. *Enriquez*, 152 Idaho at 566 (2012); *see also Montalbano*, 151 Idaho at 843, 264 P.3d at 950 (It is well established that in order for an issue to be raised on appeal, the record must reveal an adverse ruling which forms the basis for an assignment of error.)

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